Brief of Appellant

Filed 07-07-2020

Page 1 of 47

RECEIVED 07-07-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2019 AP 2296-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

#### **BILLY JOE CANNON,**

Defendant- Appellant.

#### **BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON APRIL 4, 2014, AND A DECISION AND ORDER ENTERED ON NOVEMBER 26, 2019, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY The Honorable Stephanie Rothstein, Presiding Trial Court Case No. 2011 CF 924

Respectfully submitted:

ANDEREGG & ASSOCIATES Post Office Box 170258 Milwaukee, WI 53217-8021 (414) 963-4590

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER THE COCAINE CONSPIRACY CONVICTION IN THIS CASE, ARISING FROM THE SAME ONGOING INVESTIGATION BY THE SAME JOINT TASK FORCE DURING THE **SAME** TIME FRAME, **AND INVOLVING** CONDUCT THAT ALLEGEDLY OCCURRED PRIOR TO THE FILING OF THE FIRST CONSPIRACY CASE, AND FOR WHICH ANY **POSSIBLE JUSTIFICATION FOR NOT INCLUDING** IN THE **FIRST CASE** EVAPORATED SIX MONTHS PRIOR TO THE FIRST CASE GOING TO TRIAL, MUST BE VACATED AS VIOLATIVE OF THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROHIBITION.

The trial court answered: No.

II. WHETHER THE PLAIN MEANING OF SECTION 968.29 REQUIRES THE SAME JUDGE WHO APPROVED THE ORIGINAL WIRETAP ORDER TO APPROVE THE USE OF ANY NON-ENUMERATED OFFENSE INTERCEPTS, AND PROHIBITS ANYONE OTHER THAN AN AUTHORIZED DEPUTY CHIEF JUDGE FROM DOING SO, OR MINIMALLY, SOME OTHER JUDGE THE RECORD ESTABLISHES WAS AUTHORIZED.

The trial court answered: No.

III. WHETHER AN AFFIDAVIT SUBMITTED TO SUPPORT A REQUEST TO USE A WIRETAP INTERCEPT OF A POSSIBLE FIREARM OFFENSE CONSTITUTES PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE A FIREARM CRIME OCCURRED WHEN ALL IT ALLEGED WAS THAT THE SUBJECT REQUESTED THAT A FELON LEND A FIREARM TO A NON-FELON.

The trial court answered: Yes.

Case 2019AP002296 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-07-2020 Page 9 of 47

IV. WHETHERTO THE EXTENT SECTION 968.29 AUTHORIZES THE USE OF WIRETAP EVIDENCE OF NON-AUTHORIZED OFFENSES, SUCH OFFENSES MUST STILL BE AN ENUMERATED OFFENSE UNDER SECTION 968.29.

The trial court answered: No.

#### **STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION**

The appellant believes the Court's opinion in this case will meet the criteria for publication as it will clarify and develop the law surrounding the scope of the authorized use of wiretap intercepts of non-enumerated offenses that are not authorized by the underlying wiretap order.

#### **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT**

The appellant does not request oral argument insofar as he believes the briefs will sufficiently explicate the facts and law necessary for this Court to decide the issues presented.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### A. The Cocaine Conspiracy Investigation.

To fully understand the legal issues relevant to this appeal, one must view them in the larger context of a single, ongoing investigation by a single Joint Task Force, comprised of the Milwaukee Police Department (MPD) and the Wisconsin Department of Justice (DOJ). This was a joint investigation into the actions of the defendant-appellant, Billy Joe Cannon, and many others. Two prominent co-leaders of this Task Force were MPD Detective Dean Newport and DOJ Agent Timothy Gray, both working with the High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area (HIDTA) Program. (R180; R181). The Assistant District Attorney (ADA) assigned to HIDTA was Grant Huebner. The record is not entirely clear as to when the investigation began, but the relevant portion of it, for purposes of this appeal, was the roughly three-year period from November of 2005 to October of 2008.

In addition to Cannon, the investigation also focused on Gerald McGhee who, on November 10, 2005, was arrested following a bust of a cocaine transaction arranged by a Confidential Informant (CI). (R7). The driver of the target vehicle, Lamont Powell, managed to get away, but not McGhee. (*Id.*). Following apprehension, McGhee claimed Cannon had been involved in supplying the cocaine. Police recovered cocaine from the vehicle and seized more cocaine upon executing a search warrant at the residence of Powell, who McGhee said had been driving the vehicle.

Thereafter, the Task Force continued to investigate Cannon, McGhee, Powell, Jimmy Butler and Marc Brown, among others. (R184). Indeed, McGhee was released from custody to continue the drug conspiracy investigation, a primary target of which became Cannon. (R257-64-65). And in March of 2006, the Task Force connected Cannon to Butler, as having schooled Butler on how to deal with people who had been federally indicted. (R184-6). Butler then also became a primary focus of the ongoing cocaine conspiracy investigation.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>References to January 2011 transcripts are to Case No. 2009 CF 1337.

Case 2019AP002296 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-07-2020 Page 12 of 47

It was also learned that in 2006, Cannon had allegedly gone to Miami to find a new cocaine source, and that supposedly there had been transactions ranging from \$35,000 to \$50,000 between Cannon and Marcus Adams, and that Cannon was also connected to somebody named Floyd. (R185-21). In 2007, the Task Force continued to develop information connecting Cannon with Butler. (*Id.*). That same year, it connected Cannon to Marc Brown. (*Id.*). In 2007, Agent Gray also obtained Cannon's phone records. (R257-76).

As the Joint Task Force's investigation of a drug conspiracy involving Cannon, McGhee, Brown and others continued into 2008, the Task Force installed, on January 13, 2008, a GPS device on Cannon's vehicle. (R184-16). Then, during that same month, the Joint Task Force sought and obtained an order to wiretap the phone of Marc Brown. (R1; R2). The wiretap order authorized surveillance of Brown's phone and went on for several weeks, during which time the Task Force intercepted calls between Brown and Cannon. (R184-31; R185-54-57). One of these calls involved about Butler discussions being arrested. (R185-57). Consequently, some of the calls between Cannon and Brown included discussions about how they would need to get lawyers, who to get, and how much it would cost. (Id. at 58). This, in turn, led to physical surveillance of Cannon and Brown meeting at a radio station, presumably to discuss these developments. (R185-40, 45).

Then, in March of 2008, the Task Force parlayed information obtained from the Brown wiretap into an order to wiretap Cannon's phone, to further its ongoing drug conspiracy investigation of Cannon. Persons expected to be intercepted included McGhee, Butler, and Brown, among others. (R6-8-9). The application identified McGhee as an individual who purchases kilogram quantities of cocaine from Cannon. (*Id.*). The application also relied amply on the 2005 incident allegedly involving McGhee and Cannon. (*Id.* at 13-17). And notably, McGhee continued to be a subject of the investigation. (R181; R182). He was caught on surveillance video going to Cannon's home. (R181). Reports also documented a number of telephone contacts between Cannon and McGhee. (R182). All of this was in the Spring of 2008.

The wiretap order for Cannon was extended on two subsequent occasions and during the months of March, April and May, 2008, the Task Force continued to capture numerous phone calls placed to and from Cannon's phone number, more of which involved McGhee. Some of these, the State would later claim, demonstrated Cannon was still involved in a conspiracy to distribute cocaine. Others, the State would also later claim, demonstrated that Cannon, a convicted felon, was involved in a firearm transaction involving Carl Page.<sup>2</sup>

On June 7, 2008, as the investigation of Cannon continued, the Task Force arrested Page, who was in possession of cocaine, and recruited him to cooperate in the investigation of Cannon. To that end, on October 16, 2008, the Task Force, aware of the firearm transaction involving Cannon and Page as a result of the intercepted wiretapped calls, sent Page to Cannon's house for the purpose of conducting another firearm transaction. The contrived controlled transfer was successful. Thus, on October 19, 2008, Task Force members arrested Cannon and while in custody, Cannon provided the police with some incriminating statements. Cannon was released from custody and thus ended the Task Force's three-year investigation of Cannon for conspiracy to distribute cocaine.

# B. Single Jeopardy: State v. Cannon, Case No. 2009 CF 1337 (Conspiracy to Distribute Cocaine)

So it was that on March 20, 2009, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Cannon with:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As is typical with intercepted communications, the Task Force would claim the conspiratorial conversations about cocaine were conducted using coded language. In McGhee's case, intercepted conversations with Cannon were about "TVs." (R183) (e.g., "male can get 'more TVs," "has one that is 'fresh' in the box," McGhee will "bring the box" when he gets off of work, "I got that tre ball," "bring the goods," Cannon "will give him a taste," etc.). Clearly the cocaine conspiracy investigation involving Cannon and McGhee that began in November of 2005 was still ongoing in the Spring of 2008.

Case 2019AP002296 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-07-2020 Page 14 of 47

Count 1 Conspiracy to Distribute Cocaine;

Count 2 Possession of Firearm by Felon; and

Count 3 Furnish Firearm to Unauthorized Person

State v. Cannon, Milw. Co. Case No. 2009 CF 1337. The complaint was signed by Joint Task Force co-leader Agent Newport and HIDTA ADA Grant Huebner. Taken as a whole, the complaint covered a time period from November 2005 to October 2008. The overt act for the conspiracy charge was an alleged cocaine transaction involving McGhee in November 2005. Counts 2 and 3 were based on the controlled transfer of a firearm in October 2008 involving Page.

It is undisputed that at the time the State filed this 2009 case, the Task Force had all the information it would ever have regarding Cannon's alleged involvement in a conspiracy to distribute cocaine. (R229-14-15). It possessed the information regarding Cannon's alleged involvement in the transactions involving McGhee during the 2005 drug bust which, notably, yielded actual drugs and real physical evidence (found on McGhee, in the vehicle, and in Powell's residence). It also possessed the intercepted wiretap communications from Spring 2008 (though no physical evidence) that police believed demonstrated Cannon continued to remain in the cocaine conspiracy, based on their interpretations of "coded" language used during the wiretapped calls.

Nevertheless, when the State filed the 2009 criminal complaint, it presumed to limit the time period for the cocaine conspiracy to 2005 and for which, as noted before, it had real evidence of drugs. (See Complaint, Case No. 2009 CF 1337). It also drew in, however, gun charges alleged to have occurred in October 2008, when it presided over the controlled transfer to Page. The complaint thus covered actions from November 2005 to October 2008. Notably, however, it excluded any charges, evidence or claims pertaining to the intercepted calls that fell squarely within that same time frame - i.e., the Spring of 2008 when all the intercepted wiretap calls occurred - and for which, as already noted, there was no physical evidence. The State also withheld the gun transaction involving Page,

allegedly in April of 2008, as the Task Force believed intercepted calls had demonstrated.

Page 15 of 47

On June 23, 2009, Cannon filed a motion to suppress the statements he had given to the police on October 17, 2008. The gun counts were eventually severed from the drug conspiracy count for purposes of trial. On April 1 and June 10, 2010, the circuit court denied the motion to suppress Cannon's statement and ruled it could be used in its entirety at trial. (R254-48; R255-13-14).

Meanwhile, the Task Force continued to investigate alleged co-conspirator Eraclio Varela. Within a couple of months, however, the ADA was told that proceeding with charges against individuals related to the wiretaps would no longer compromise the ongoing investigation. (R229-41). The State did not, however, file any new charges against Cannon at that time, nor did it seek to amend the criminal complaint in the then-pending case - 2009 CF 1337 - or otherwise disclose the wiretap information. Instead, for the next six months, it was business as usual in the 2009 cocaine conspiracy case as that case neared trial. On January 10, 2011, the jury trial commenced on the cocaine conspiracy charge and lasted three days. At the conclusion of the trial, Cannot was acquitted and found not guilty of a cocaine conspiracy.<sup>3</sup>

# C. Double Jeopardy: State v. Cannon, Case No. 2011 CF 924(Conspiracy to Distribute Cocaine)

On February 24, 2011, just a little more than a month after Cannon was acquitted on the charge of *conspiracy to distribute cocaine*, the State charged Cannon with *conspiracy to distribute cocaine*. (R7). This complaint was signed by the other Joint Task Force co-leader, Agent Timothy Gray and, again, by HIDTA ADA Grant Huebner. (*Id.*). Taken as a whole, the complaint covered alleged activity from March to May of 2008, which therefore fell squarely within the same time period covered by the first case (November 2005 to

<sup>3</sup> Cannon later entered a plea to Count 2 - Felon in Possession of a Firearm in exchange for dismissal of Count 3 - Furnishing a Firearm to an

Unauthorized Person. (R222).

October 2008). (*Id.*). The charge stemmed, in large part, from that portion of the Task Force investigation involving the wiretap communications. Two other charges stemmed from that same time frame as well: (1) Conspiracy to Distribute THC; and (2) Furnishing a Firearm to an Unauthorized Person.<sup>4</sup>

Cannon filed several motions during the pendency of the second conspiracy case (2011 CF 924), just two of which are germane to this appeal: (1) motion to suppress wiretap evidence filed on September 14, 2012; and (2) motion to dismiss based on double jeopardy violations on filed October 16, 2012. (R24; R25; R27; R28). On December 17, 2012, the circuit court heard testimony regarding the background facts underlying the charging decisions in both cases and the timing thereof. (R229-32-64). The circuit court deferred a decision until the next day, (*id.* at 122-23), at which point it denied the double jeopardy motion. (R230-11-23). It reasoned the two cocaine conspiracy cases were distinct in law, and in fact. (*Id.*).

On March 6, 2013, the circuit court addressed Cannon's motion to suppress wiretap evidence. (R231-3). The court heard testimony from Agent Timothy Gray. (*Id.*). Once again, the court deferred a decision until the next day. (*Id.* at 30). On March 7, 2013, the court denied Cannon's motion to suppress wiretap evidence. (R233-10-17).

On February 10, 2014, a five-day jury trial began on the case *sub judice*. (R242-R248). During the course of that trial, there was liberal use of the wiretap recordings for both the drug and firearm charges. (R244-70-76; R248-52-55). At the end of that trial, the jury found Cannon guilty on all counts. On April 1, 2014, Cannon was given a combined sentenced of 30 years.

<sup>4</sup>Count One charged Cannon, along with Damone Powell and Eraclio Varela with Conspiracy to Deliver Cocaine (PTAC), with dates of violation being 3-4-08 and 3-24-08. Count Three charged Cannon, Page, Turnage with Possession Firearm by Felon – Furnish to Felon (PTAC). The THC charge is not a subject of this appeal.

6

#### **Argument**

I. THE COCAINE CONSPIRACY CONVICTION IN THIS CASE, ARISING FROM THE SAME ONGOING INVESTIGATION BY THE SAME JOINT TASK FORCE DURING THE SAME TIME FRAME, AND INVOLVING CONDUCT THAT ALLEGEDLY OCCURRED PRIOR TO THE FILING OF THE FIRST CONSPIRACY CASE, **AND FOR** WHICH **ANY POSSIBLE** JUSTIFICATION FOR NOT INCLUDING IN THE FIRST CASE EVAPORATED SIX MONTHS PRIOR TO THE FIRST CASE GOING TO TRIAL, MUST BE VACATED AS VIOLATIVE OF THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES AND WISCONSIN CONSTITUTIONS.

The double jeopardy clause protects against successive prosecutions and multiple punishments for the same offense. State v. Kalty, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 16, 294 Wis.2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886. Protection against multiple punishments includes "unitof-prosecution challenges in which the state is alleged to have improperly subdivided the same offense into multiple counts of violating the same statute. Id. Here, while the state investigation involved one continuous conspiracy to deliver cocaine involving Cannon and numerous other named and confidential persons, the State elected to litigate this single offense piecemeal until a conviction was had. When unable to obtain a conviction for an alleged cocaine conspiracy in the 2009 case and indeed, while the ink was still drying on the verdict form acquitting Cannon, the State filed another cocaine conspiracy charge against Cannon using other information from the same investigation.

There are two important observations about the State's approach to serially prosecuting Cannon vis-a-vis its ongoing investigation. First, at the time the State filed the first case in 2009, it already had *all* the cocaine conspiracy information it would ever have implicating Cannon. It had that information by the middle of October 2008, (R229-56-57), but did not release the wiretap information. Only after Cannon was acquitted in the 2009 case did it release the information when filing the 2011 case just one month later.

Case 2019AP002296 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-07-2020 Page 18 of 47

The second observation pertains to the excuse offered by the State for dividing the Joint Task Force's single investigation of Cannon into two separate cases, and disclosing the wiretap information only after Cannon was acquitted. The State claimed that when it filed the first conspiracy case against Cannon in 2009, it did not include charges or evidence from the 2008 wiretaps because it was still investigating Varela, and did not want to compromise that investigation. (R229-38).

It is undisputed, however, that by the late summer of  $2010 - \sin x$  months before Cannon's trial in the first case – any justification for not disclosing the wiretap information or charging Cannon had evaporated. This was conceded by the same ADA who signed *both* complaints. (*Id.* at 41). It was then the State learned that proceeding with charges against the wiretapped individuals would no longer compromise any ongoing investigation. (*Id.*). And it was then when the State learned it was free to amend the 2009 complaint to add in the wiretap information it had obtained in 2008, and present that wiretap information during the 2009 trial. Instead, however, it held back and kept that information under wraps, waited for the outcome of the 2009 case, and when such was an acquittal, turned around and filed this case charging Cannon with the exact same offense on which he had just been acquitted.

When first addressing the double jeopardy issue, part of the court's rationale for denying the motion was that the charges in the two cases were legally distinct. The court reached this conclusion even though the underlying substantive crime in both cases was based on section 961.41(1)(cm)4, Stats., which outlaws the distribution of more than 40 grams of cocaine. The court stated:

As to Count 1, which is the count upon which Mr. Cannon was acquitted, the state charged the defendant with conspiracy to commit delivery of controlled substance, cocaine over 40 grams as party to the crime and cited as the statutes that it relied upon as 961.41 and . . . subsections . . . 961.41(lx) and 939.05 and that case proceeded under a party to the crime theory. Conspiracy was simply the label that was attached to that.

Case 2019AP002296 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-07-2020 Page 19 of 47

And as is well-established law, an individual in the State of Wisconsin, we eliminated when they enacted the party to the crime statute the idea that about individual types of involvement in crime. And 939.05 addresses and the Court finds that 939.05 addresses the various ways an individual can allege to be concerned with the commission of the crime.

(R230-11-12). Thus, the court thought it relevant that under section 939.05, conspiracy is just one way to demonstrate party to a crime liability.

The court then turned to how the 2011 case was charged:

And then we compare and contrast the charges in this matter. . . . 11-CF-0924 charges conspiracy to commit manufacture/delivery of substance, cocaine, over 40 grams as party to the crime but charges in addition to 939.05, it charges the State of Wisconsin's substantive or inchoate crime, if you will, of conspiracy under 939.31 which is a separate and distinct statutory subsection which requires a different factual finding than is required simply under the party to the crime theory alone. Conspiracy under 939.31 provide that whoever, with certain exceptions, whoever with intent that a crime be committed agrees or combines with another for the purpose of committing that crime may, if one or more of the parties to the conspiracy does an act to effect its object be fined or imprisoned and then it goes on to state the penalties. And there's a whole separate body of law surrounding that concept of conspiracy and that appears to be the concept under which the state has chosen to go forward and the legal theory under which the state has chosen to go forward to pursue.

(R230-12-13). The court deemed this "a distinction with a difference." (*Id.* at 14). In other words, because the conspiracy theory in the 2009 case was tied to section 939.05 alone, while

the conspiracy theory in the 2011 case added in section 939.31, the two cases were somehow different in law.

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