Filed 09-30-2020

Page 1 of 47

FILED 09-30-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP2296-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BILLY JOE CANNON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

D. Cannon's motion failed to sufficiently allege actual prejudice.

Even assuming in hindsight that counsel ought to have moved to suppress the firearm evidence, Cannon's allegation of prejudice in his postconviction motion was only conclusory and the record conclusively shows that he suffered no prejudice.

1. Cannon's substantial rights were not violated.

Cannon's motion failed to allege how Judge Sankovitz's involvement adversely affected his substantial rights. "No evidence seized under a search warrant shall be suppressed because of technical irregularities not affecting the substantial rights of the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 968.22. "No indictment, information, complaint *or warrant* shall be invalid, nor shall the trial, judgment or other proceedings be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matters of form which do not prejudice the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 971.26.

Suppression is inappropriate for a mere statutory violation or technical defect in the search warrant application process. *State v. Sveum*, 2010 WI 92, ¶ 57, 328 Wis. 2d 369, 787 N.W.2d 317. Suppression is inappropriate if the purpose of the wiretap statute was satisfied despite the procedural irregularity. *State v. House*, 2007 WI 79, ¶¶ 42, 50–51, 302 Wis. 2d 1, 734 N.W.2d 140. The purpose of section 968.29(5), to ensure judicial authorization within 48 hours to use evidence of a crime not enumerated in the drug wiretap warrant but obtained during the execution of that warrant, was fully satisfied here the same as if Judge Brennan had reviewed the application. Suppression is not the remedy for this technical defect. (R. 42:23–25.)

Cannon did not allege in his motion, and does not argue here, that the authorization by Judge Sankovitz to use the intercepted firearm evidence violated his Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable, warrantless searches and seizures, interfered with any of his substantial trial rights, or denied him the right to a fair trial. He does not even argue that Judge Brennan lacked the authority to appoint an acting chief judge in her absence, or that Judge Sankovitz was not properly appointed by her to serve as acting chief judge. He relies only on a technical statutory violation of little or no consequence. That is not enough for suppression. *Sveum*, 328 Wis. 2d 369, ¶ 57. Simply put, if Judge Sankovitz acted beyond his authority, the record conclusively shows that it did not harm Cannon at all.

2. The good faith exception to the exclusionary rule would have barred suppression of the firearm evidence.

The law enforcement officers who sought and obtained the warrant from Judge Sankovitz on April 4, 2008, to use the firearm evidence they intercepted on April 3, reasonably relied in objective good faith on Judge Sankovitz's assurance that he had the authority as acting chief judge to issue the warrant.

Suppression would be wholly improper here because it would do nothing to further the salutary purpose of the exclusionary rule to deter *police* misconduct. United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 913 (1984); State v. Marquardt, 2005 WI 157, ¶¶ 24–26, 44–47, 286 Wis. 2d 204, 705 N.W.2d 878; State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 63, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625. "[T]he Fourth Amendment exclusionary rule does not apply to evidence obtained by police officers who acted in objectively reasonable reliance upon a search warrant issued by a neutral magistrate." Illinois v. Krull, 480 U.S. 340, 342 (1987). The officers who executed the search "cannot be expected to question the magistrate's probable-cause determination or his judgment that the form of the warrant is technically sufficient." *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 921. Cannon does not allege that police engaged in any misconduct here, either in how they obtained the firearm evidennce or in how they sought judicial approval to use it the next day.

Cannon points the finger instead at Judge Sankovitz. But he, too, engaged in no misconduct. "Most of the case law in this area addresses search warrants issued upon affidavit by law enforcement, focusing the discussion of the judge or magistrate's role in this process on whether she abdicated her role in the process by serving as a rubber stamp for law enforcement." *State v. Hess*, 2010 WI 82, ¶ 54, 327 Wis. 2d 524, 785 N.W.2d 568. Cannon does not argue that Judge Sankovitz served as a "rubber stamp" for law enforcement. He only makes the technical argument that Judge Brennan improperly delegated to Judge Sankovitz her authority to issue the supplemental warrant.

Under Wisconsin's stricter version of the *Leon* "good faith" exception, the warrant application may be presented to the judge only after a significant police investigation, and only after the warrant application was independently reviewed and approved by a supervisory officer or a law enforcement lawyer such as an assistant district attorney. *Marquardt*, 705 N.W.2d 878, ¶¶ 44–47; *Eason*, 629 N.W.2d 625, ¶ 63. Police act in good faith reliance on a warrant that is not supported by probable cause if there are "indicia" of probable cause. *Id*. ¶¶ 28–31, 37–44. Any competing inferences are to be resolved in favor of the State. *Id*. ¶ 44.

Here, after a lengthy investigation involving many actors, the initial application was approved by the Attorney General and the District Attorney before it was approved by Chief Judge Brennan. Police properly intercepted the calls setting up the firearm transaction while acting within the scope of that warrant. The supplemental application was reviewed and signed by Milwaukee County District Attorney John Chisholm before it was submitted to Acting Chief Judge Sankovitz for approval. It was supported at least by an indicia of probable cause. It complied with the Fourth Amendment. There was no reason, therefore, for trial counsel to believe that the trial court would have rejected the "good faith" exception and suppressed evidence of the firearm transaction just because Judge Sankovitz may have overstepped his authority.

Lastly, Cannon argues that the good faith exception does not apply to wiretap warrants. (Cannon's Br. 30.) He is wrong. His reliance on *People v. Allard*, 99 N.E.3d 124 (III. App. Ct. 2018), is inapt. The *Allard* court applied a state statute that specifically prohibited application of the good faith exception to technical errors in wiretap warrant applications. Even then, the court held that the good faith exception might apply where the police are not guilty of misconduct in the application process. *Id.* 134–35.

There is no such statute restricting the scope of the good faith exception in Wisconsin. Wisconsin Stat. § 968.30(9)(a) merely authorizes an "aggrieved person" to seek suppression of evidence alleged to have been obtained in violation of the wiretap statutes and "[i]f the motion is granted," the intercepted contents of the wiretap and any derivative evidence is to be suppressed. Directly contrary to the statute discussed in *Allard*, Wisconsin's Electronic Surveillance Law requires courts to overlook technical defects in the warrant application process that do not affect the defendant's substantial rights. Wis. Stat. § 968.22; *see* Wis. Stat. § 971.26. Suppression is not called for in Wisconsin when the proven violation is only statutory and technical. *Sveum*, 328 Wis. 2d 369, ¶ 57.

Moreover, because no Wisconsin case or statute has ever held that the good faith exception does not apply to wiretap warrants, with the law being directly to the contrary, *see id.*, counsel was not ineffective for failing to make this novel argument to change the law. *Maloney*, 281 Wis. 2d 595, $\P\P$ 28–30; *McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d at 84. Presumptively competent counsel was not ineffective for deciding against pursuing an utterly meritless suppression motion.

3. Judge Sankovitz reasonably found probable cause.

Cannon argues that trial counsel was ineffective for not moving to suppress the firearm evidence on the ground that the supplemental warrant application failed to establish probable cause to believe that he: (a) as a convicted felon, constructively possessed a firearm; (b) was a party to the possession of a firearm by another felon; or (c) furnished a firearm to a known felon. Without conceding the point, the State will assume only for the sake of argument that it must make a probable cause showing of the discovery of a new crime not enumerated in the initial warrant to obtain judicial authorization to use evidence of that new crime under section 968.29(5). Cannon's challenge is without merit because the standard is only probable cause; it is not proof beyond a reasonable doubt. It is a minimal standard that was easily met here. There was no reason for counsel to object.

Cannon would have borne the burden of proving at a suppression hearing that there was an insufficient showing of probable cause in the application to support its approval. *State v. Schaefer*, 2003 WI App 164, ¶ 5, 266 Wis. 2d 719, 668 N.W.2d 760; *State v. Jones*, 2002 WI App 196, ¶ 11, 257 Wis. 2d 319, 651 N.W.2d 305.

When considering an application for a search warrant, the issuing magistrate or judge is required, "to make a practical, common sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the 'veracity' and 'basis of knowledge' of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place." *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (citation omitted); see, e.g., United States v. Haynes, 882 F.3d 662, 665 (7th Cir. 2018); Schaefer, 266 Wis. 2d 719, ¶¶ 4–6. "Those circumstances need only indicate a reasonable probability that evidence of [a] crime will be found in a particular location; neither an absolute certainty nor even a preponderance of the evidence is necessary." United States v. Aljabari, 626 F.3d 940, 944 (7th Cir. 2010).

The probable cause determination is made on a case-bycase basis after reviewing the totality of the circumstances. *Schaefer*, 266 Wis. 2d 719, ¶ 17. The issuing judge may draw reasonable inferences from the facts asserted in the affidavit. The inferences drawn need not be the only reasonable ones. The issue is whether the inferences drawn by the issuing judge were reasonable. *E.g., State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 30, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517; *Jones*, 257 Wis. 2d 319, ¶ 10.

This Court on review must give "great deference" to the issuing judge's probable cause determination; the decision must stand unless the defendant proves that the facts were "clearly insufficient" to support the probable cause finding. *State v. Tate*, 2014 WI 89, 357 Wis. 2d 172, 849 N.W.2d 798, ¶ 14; *Marquardt*, 286 Wis. 2d 204, ¶ 23. The decision to issue the warrant must stand if there was a substantial basis for it. *Schaefer*, 266 Wis. 2d 719, ¶ 4. This highly deferential standard of review is in line with the "Fourth Amendment's strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant." *Id.* (citation omitted); *see Sveum*, 328 Wis. 2d 369, ¶ 26; *Ward*, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶¶ 21–24 (same). Even in a close case, the reviewing court must resolve all doubts in favor of the judicial probable cause determination. *State v. Lindgren*, 2004 WI App 159, 275 Wis. 2d 851, ¶ 20, 687 N.W.2d 60.

The affidavit established probable cause to believe that Cannon had at least constructive possession of the firearm transferred at his behest to "Jimmy" (Hayes); Cannon was a convicted felon who knew or should have known the gun he ordered delivered to Hayes would pass through the hands of at least one convicted felon (Carl Page) before it reached Hayes; making him its constructive joint possessor with Page, or at least a party to the possession of a firearm by the convicted felon, Page. Wis. Stat. §§ 941.29 & 939.05.

The warrant application averred both that Cannon was a convicted felon and that the man he employed to transfer the gun to Hayes (Page) was a convicted felon. It also established at least a fair probability that Cannon had control over the gun he transferred to Hayes even though he did not hold it in his hands because he had sufficient joint control over it with Page to order Page to deliver the gun to "Jimmy." These facts and the reasonable inferences drawn from them were not materially false or made in reckless disregard for the truth. *House*, 302 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 57–59.

The affidavit established probable cause to believe that (a) Cannon, as a convicted felon, constructively possessed a firearm by exercising control over it jointly with someone he knew to be a convicted felon, and (b) this constructive possession enabled him to arrange for its transfer to Hayes. This made him at least a party to possession of a firearm by a convicted felon.

Possess means the Defendant knowingly had actual physical control of a firearm. . . . An item is also in a person's possession if it is in an area over which the person has control and the person intends to exercise control over the item. It is not required that a person own an item in order to possess it. What is required is that the person exercised control over the item. Possession may be shared by another person. If a person exercises control over an item, that item is in his possession even though another person may also have similar control.

Wis. JI–Criminal 1343 (2016).

Possession includes both actual and constructive possession. *State v. Peete*, 185 Wis. 2d 4, 14–16, 517 N.W.2d

149 (1994). "Constructive possession consists of circumstances that are sufficient to support an inference that the person exercised control over, or intended to possess, the item in question." Wis. JI–Criminal 920, Comment 2 (2000); see State v. Allbaugh, 148 Wis. 2d 807, 813–14, 436 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1989).

The issuing judge could reasonably ask: If Cannon did not exercise actual control over the firearm, even jointly with Page, then why did Hayes call him for one, and why did Page follow his order to deliver the gun to Hayes? Why didn't "Jimmy" call Page directly? And, how could Cannon assure Hayes that he could and would arrange for the firearm to be delivered to him unless Cannon exercised actual control over it? The answer is obviously that Cannon had sufficient control over the gun to transfer it, even if he held that control jointly with Page. If Cannon had control over a bag of cocaine possessed by Page, and he ordered Page to deliver the cocaine to a third party, he certainly could be charged with being a coconspirator or a party to the crime with Page to possess the cocaine with the intent to deliver it even if the deal was thwarted by police before the cocaine could be delivered to their customer. See State v. Hecht, 116 Wis. 2d 605, 617-28, 342 N.W.2d 721 (1984). The analysis does not change just because the item over which he and Page exercised joint control and delivered to a third party was a firearm. This evidence created a reasonable inference of Cannon's constructive possession of the firearm, his involvement as a party to its possession with someone he knew to be a convicted felon, Page, and his knowingly conspiring to furnish the firearm to Hayes through Page.

4. The good faith exception would have applied to an erroneous judicial probable cause determination as well.

Judge Sankovitz found from the evidence set forth in the warrant application and reasonable inferences therefrom that there was sufficient information presented for him to authorize the future use of the firearm transaction evidence. For the same reasons that police reasonably relied in objective good faith on his authority as acting chief judge to issue the warrant, they reasonably relied in objective good faith on his probable cause determination. The officers who received his authorization to use the evidence "cannot be expected to question the magistrate's probable-cause determination or his judgment that the form of the warrant is technically sufficient." *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 921.

E. The use of post-April 3 telephone calls at trial was harmless error.

Cannon complains that the State referred at trial to telephone calls regarding the firearm transaction that were made on April 4 and 5 even though Judge Sankovitz approved the use of only the April 3 telephone call. (Cannon's Br. 25.) Even if this was error, it was plainly harmless.

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